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I. BY THE COMMISSION

A. Statement

1. This matter is before the Commission for a determination on the next course of action in this Proceeding.  A Notice of Proposed Order to Show Cause was issued to 
Mr. John Heron and the estate of Mr. Neil W. Solomon, to show cause why certain shareholder promissory notes are not void and unenforceable.  A Proposed Order to Show Cause and an additional letter from Commission Director Mr. Doug Dean was served on those parties on December 27, 2018.  The parties had 20 days to cure or satisfy, or otherwise respond to the allegations set out in the Proposed Order to Show Cause.
2. Neither Mr. Heron, nor Mr. Solomon’s estate responded to the Notice of Proposed Show Cause.  Water Staff of the Commission (Staff) now requests that the Commission take the next step in making a determination on the validity of the shareholder loans of Mr. Heron and Mr. Solomon and proceed with the show cause process.

3. Now, being fully advised in the matter, we find it in the best interests of Prospect Mountain Water Company (Company or Prospect Mountain) and the residents it serves to 
close this show cause proceeding and declare the shareholder promissory notes void and unenforceable.
B. Background

4. Prospect Mountain was founded in 1969, but did not recognize that it was a public utility subject to Commission authority.  The Commission became aware of the Company’s existence through customer complaints received in 2007 and 2008. The Commission then advised the Company that it was subject to Commission authority unless it became a special district or transferred its water system assets to the Town of Estes Park (Estes Park).  In 2009, after an unsuccessful attempt at becoming a special district, Prospect Mountain applied to the Commission for a Certificate of Public Convenience and Necessity, which was granted in 2010.
5. According to information received from the Commission’s attorney representing it in the bankruptcy proceeding, the Company’s water supply historically came from the Colorado-Big Thompson project through a permit from the U.S. Bureau of Reclamation (Bureau). The Bureau advised Prospect Mountain many times that the contract between the parties would end and advised the Company in September of 2002 that it would no longer provide water to the Company after July 15, 2012.
  In 2012 the Company sought Commission approval to sell its water rights and to thereafter purchase water from Estes Park.  The Commission approved the sale but required the proceeds, net of certain expenses, to be held in a Capital Improvement Fund (CIF), a segregated trust account established for the benefit of the Company’s customers.  Any disbursements from the CIF were to be approved by the Commission.
Numerous proceedings involving Prospect Mountain came before the Commission.  The Company’s request to use the CIF to pay off several “shareholder loans” was part of a 2013 rate case.
  The loans were purportedly made by the Company’s president Mr. John Heron to the Company.
  The Company issued promissory notes, which at that time totaled $260,000, executed by Mr. Heron as president and payable to Mr. Heron individually.
  Ratepayers and Commission Staff questioned the validity of the shareholder notes and objected to the Company using the CIF to repay them.
  While the rate case was pending, the Company claimed to issue additional promissory notes to Mr. Heron.
  Following a hearing, an Administrative law Judge (ALJ) concluded that “[t]he overwhelming evidence in the proceeding is that there was no oversight to the loans and no way to know what the loan money was spent on.”
  Further, the ALJ found that “there was no evidence that loans were made by any 

6. shareholder to the Company. The only evidence of any loans [are] the [] promissory notes which are not in the amount of the alleged loans and were created well after the supposed loans were made.”
 The ALJ held that Prospect Mountain could not use the CIF to repay the shareholder notes, because the Company had failed to prove that the “loans” were made in the public interest.

7. In November 2013, based on findings made by the ALJ in Decision 
No. R13-1226, the Commission determined that purported encumbrances of the Company’s water rights
 to secure the shareholder notes were illegal because the “loans” were made outside the normal course of utility business without Commission approval, and violated a specific Commission order prohibiting Mr. Heron from assigning any of the utility’s assets without Commission approval.  The Commission therefore voided these encumbrances.  The Commission also stated that it would:  (1) examine possible irregularities related to the shareholder loans, the promissory notes, and Mr. Heron’s actions; and (2) address whether voiding the promissory notes themselves is an appropriate remedy.

8. The Commission determined that the purported encumbrances on the C-BT units violated both § 40-5-105, C.R.S., and previous Decision No. C12-0808.
  As set out above, having found that the Company had been provided all due process and opportunity to respond, the Commission voided these encumbrances and ordered the Company to file evidence that the encumbrances had in fact been removed from the C-BT units within 30 days of the effective date of the final decision in Proceeding No. 13A-0291W.
  

9. However, in Decision No. C14-0091, issued on January 23, 2014, the Commission found that the Company had failed to provide this evidence in the form of source documents.  The Commission gave Prospect Mountain an additional 30 days to file those source documents.  

10. In addition, the Commission required that once Prospect Mountain filed an application for final Commission approval of the sale of assets, it would inquire further into the irregularities related to the shareholder loans and promissory notes and Mr. Heron’s related actions.

11. On July 18, 2014, by Decision No. C14-0852 in Proceeding No. 14A-0698W, the Commission granted the Joint Application of Prospect Mountain and the North Weld County Water District for Approval of Transfer of Assets.  The Commission approved the transfer of the 40 C-BT units, finding that the proposed sale was in the public interest.  As part of the Commission’s approval, it also directed Staff to audit the status of the promissory notes and report its findings within 30 days.  The Commission also ordered Prospect Mountain to continue to negotiate in good faith with Estes Park for a permanent agreement to transfer the water system to Estes Park’s water system.

12. Staff subsequently reported to the Commission on the results of its audit regarding the promissory notes.  It was found that the Company provided no evidence of: 1) the source of the deposits allegedly from Mr. Heron; 2) how the Company spent the deposited money; 3) adequate management oversight over the loans, including their execution by Mr. Heron on behalf of the Company to Mr. Heron as payee; and, 4) the calculation of interest added to the principle amounts of the loans.  

13. The Commission, in Decision No. C14-1488 in Proceeding No. 14A-0698W, issued December 17, 2014, determined that the promissory notes were not consistent with ordinary utility business operations.  As a result, the Commission found that the notes may not be valid liabilities of the Company.  In addition, it was held that funding a failing utility over four decades with loan proceeds rather than Commission-approved rate increases was evidence of shifting costs of utility operations on to future ratepayers and therefore an improper exercise of managerial discretion.  

14. The Commission held that this was all a reasonable basis for Staff to pursue an order for Prospect Mountain to show cause why it had not acted in violation of statutes and Commission rules and decisions such that the outstanding promissory notes are void.  

15. The bankruptcy filing resulted in the appointment of Mr. Hepner as bankruptcy trustee.  Counsel for the Commission informed the Commission that he educated Mr. Hepner on the regulatory history, the Commission’s ongoing regulatory authority over the Company, and the Commission’s continued authority over the CIF.  Mr. Hepner has, from time to time, sought and obtained permission from the Commission to use funds from the CIF for modest capital improvements and for payment of professional fees associated with the bankruptcy case.  Mr. Hepner has also been active in seeking a transfer of assets from the Company to Estes Park to ensure a viable water system to ensure safe drinking water to the customers of the Company.
16. There are several outstanding claims in bankruptcy court.  For example, the Company incurred taxes from the sale of the C-BT water rights.  The U.S. Internal Revenue Service has filed a claim in the bankruptcy case for $164,121; the Colorado Department of Revenue has filed a claim in the amount of $19,183; and, Larimer County has filed a claim for $2,816.  At the time of the sale of the water rights, the Commission acknowledged that the resulting tax claims would need to be paid from the CIF.  All of these claims presumably will be allowed in the bankruptcy case, and will be paid from the CIF.  According to the bankruptcy trustee, the CIF has sufficient funds to pay these claims in full.
17. The remaining claims are the shareholder promissory notes.  Mr. Heron filed a claim in the amount of $541,557.83, and attached a series of promissory notes executed by Mr. Heron as president to himself.  Another shareholder, the estate of Neil Solomon, filed a claim for $171,004. No note is attached. Instead, there is an attachment that recites a loan in the amount of $32,118, and accumulated interest of $54,310 as of December 31, 2005.  The rest of the claim appears to be compound interest from 2006 to the present.  
18. Updates provided by the bankruptcy trustee indicate that his work on behalf of Prospect Mountain has finally proved fruitful.  In March 2016, Mr. Hepner entered into an agreement with Estes Park to operate the water system; however, Estes Park was initially hesitant to take over the Prospect Mountain system due to the age of the infrastructure and the cost to upgrade the system. Estes Park sought a source of funding to finance extensive improvements to the system, as the CIF was not adequate to do so.  
19. On October 15, 2018, Mr. Hepner filed a status report with the bankruptcy court advising the following: 1) the United States Department of Agriculture (USDA) approved $11 million of funding to reconstruct the water system, of which $4.5 million is a low interest loan, with the remainder provided as a grant; 2) the homeowners agreed to have Estes Park take over the Prospect Mountain system and set future rates sufficient to repay the USDA loan; 3) Estes Park and Mr. Hepner, while still in the process of negotiating the terms of the Voluntary Transfer Agreement, which will govern the transfer of the water system to Estes Park, appear close to finalizing the agreement.
20. Pursuant to Decision by the Commission,
 Staff was directed to issue a 
Notice of Proposed Show Cause directing Prospect Mountain to show cause why the promissory/shareholder notes were not void due to the Company’s violation of statutes, rules, and decisions.  The Commission found that irregularities or unreasonable decisions on the part of Prospect Mountain’s board, or Mr. Heron acting on behalf of the Company may authorize the Commission to void the shareholder promissory notes to protect the Company’s assets and the interests of its ratepayers.

21. The Commission noted that Prospect Mountain failed to provide evidence in response to Staff’s audit or the source of the deposits allegedly from Mr. Heron; how the Company spent that deposited money; any adequate oversight by management over the loans, including their execution by Mr. Heron on behalf of the Company to Mr. Heron as payee; and, how the high level of interest was calculated and added to the principle amounts of the loans.

22. The Commission found that the evidence Prospect Mountain had provided indicated that the shareholder promissory notes were not consistent with ordinary utility business operations. While utilities commonly use short-term debt to finance business operations and use long-term capital investment to build infrastructure—all in the ordinary course of business—the Commission determined that the shareholder promissory notes at issue are fundamentally different. It appeared that the shareholders repeatedly funded operations without any plan to make Prospect Mountain financially viable or to repay the loans. Consequently, it was found that the notes may not be valid liabilities of the utility. See § 40-5-105, C.R.S. (requiring Commission approval for the sale, assignment, or lease of utility assets unless such action is conducted in the normal course of utility business).
23. Based on evidence derived in Proceeding Nos. 13A-0291W, 14A-0698W, and the Company’s responses to Staff’s audit, the Commission found sufficient evidence to pursue an order for Prospect Mountain to show cause why it failed to act and in the process violated statutes and Commission rules and decisions.  This in turn resulted in a finding that the outstanding shareholder promissory notes were void.  It appears that the proposed show cause was not issued to the Company, or if it was, there was no response.
24. More recently, we again requested that Staff prepare a proposed show cause to send to Prospect Mountain to show cause why certain shareholder promissory notes are not void and unenforceable.  Even though the Commission had made several findings that the notes were most likely void and unenforceable, it was determined to provide the Company one more opportunity to present evidence of the notes’ validity.
25. On December 19, 2018, Staff presented a Proposed Order to Show Cause to the Colorado Public Utilities Commission pursuant to Rule 1302(h) of the Rules of Practice and Procedure, 4 Code of Colorado Regulations 723-1.  We approved the Proposed Order and it was served on Prospect Mountain, along with a letter from Commission Director Doug Dean on December 27, 2018, informing the Company that it had 20 days to cure or satisfy, or otherwise respond to the allegations set forth in the Proposed Order to Show Cause.

26. According to a filing from Staff received February 11, 2019, it received 
no response from Prospect Mountain and was not aware of any response sent to 
Director Doug Dean or anyone else at the Commission mentioned in the letter as points of contact.  Staff was served a copy of a bankruptcy court status report filed by Prospect Mountain that contained an update on the Company and informed the bankruptcy court that Prospect Mountain did send a copy of the Proposed Order to Show Cause to the attorney representing Mr. Heron and the estate of Mr. Solomon.
27. Staff requested that the Commission take the next step in making a determination on the validity of the shareholder loans of Mr. Heron and Mr. Solomon in order to provide clarity and certainty to the bankruptcy court, as well as Estes Park and the Company.  
C. Discussion
28. The show cause process under Rule 1302(h) entails several steps over the course of several months that requires Staff to prepare a notice of proposed show cause; present it to us for approval; and then serve it on the regulated entity.  Once received, the regulated entity will have 20 days to cure or satisfy the allegation set forth in the notice of proposed show cause.

29. After the 20 days to cure or satisfy have expired, Staff is to present the proposed show cause decision along with any response from the regulated entity at a regular weekly meeting for a determination on whether to adopt the decision.  If the Commission determines that if the information received from the regulated entity or party does not support issuance of the decision to show cause, the Commission will not adopt the decision and the matter will be closed.

30. However, if the Commission determines that the provided information demonstrates good cause for further proceeding, the Commission, upon its own motion, shall open a show cause proceeding and issue a decision ordering the regulated entity or party to show cause and provide notice of a hearing.  Upon issuance of the decision, the show cause proceeding will be processed pursuant to the Commission’s regular hearing processes.  

31. It is apparent that our show cause process is detailed and lengthy.  To go through the entire process, including a complaint hearing and decision could extend the matter for many more months.  As it appears that the bankruptcy trustee and Estes Park are close to a final agreement for the transfer of the Prospect Mountain system to Estes Park, we are concerned that to continue through the show cause process may inadvertently delay the transfer.
32. Additionally, according to the bankruptcy trustee, if we determine that the shareholder loans are unenforceable, the trustee anticipates that he will file objections to disallow the claims in bankruptcy court filed by Mr. Heron and Mr. Solomon’s estate pursuant to 
11 U. S. Code § 502(b)(1).  
D. Findings and Conclusions

33. This matter has been ongoing since at least 2012.  It appears that the transfer of Prospect Mountain and its customers to Estes Park is in its final stages.  To continue with our show cause proceeding will do nothing to advance this matter swiftly to conclusion, both here and in the bankruptcy court.  It is therefore incumbent on us to fulfill our regulatory obligations to ensure the health, safety, and welfare of Prospect Mountain customers, and to do so in a timely manner.  

34. Therefore, we find that the shareholder promissory notes are void and unenforceable for lack of evidence to the contrary and allow the transfer of Prospect Mountain to Estes Park to proceed.  As set forth above, the Commission has sufficient evidence from hearings in Proceeding Nos. 13A-0291W and 14A-0698W to determine that Mr. Heron and Mr. Solomon failed to provide any evidence as to the validity of the shareholder promissory notes.  As the Commission found at ¶9 in Decision No. C13-1495 in Proceeding No. 13A-0291W: 

The evidence introduced during the hearing raises several potential irregularities.  First, a valuable utility asset was encumbered or assigned without prior Commission approval and in violation of a prior Commission decision prohibiting such action.  Further, the president of Prospect Mountain signed promissory notes on behalf of the Company payable to the president individually and without Company authorization.  The promissory notes also may be beyond the ordinary course of business.  The notes do not correspond to the amount of the purported loans or their timing.  Further, the Company’s accountant was not apprised of these notes and thus has not accounted for them.

(Emphasis in original)

The Commission additionally held that not only were the purported encumbrances on the C-BT units a violation of § 40-5-105, C.R.S., but that serious irregularities existed related to the shareholder loans, the promissory notes, and Mr. Heron’s actions.
  According to the Commission, Mr. Heron and Mr. Solomon were afforded all due process and opportunity to respond to that evidence.
35. The irregularities established at hearing in Proceeding Nos. 13A-0291W and 
14A-0698W coupled with the total lack of cooperation now from Mr. Heron and Mr. Solomon’s estate lead us to conclude that the best course of action is to close this show cause proceeding and find that the shareholder promissory notes are void and unenforceable for lack of evidence to the contrary.  These findings allow us to find it in the public interest to allow the transfer of the Prospect Mountain water system to Estes Park to proceed unencumbered by any regulatory issues.  
II. ORDER

A. The Commission Orders That:

1. Based on the totality of evidence in this matter, the shareholder promissory notes presented by Mr. John Heron and Mr. Neil Solomon for payment are void and unenforceable consistent with the discussion above.

2. The Proposed Order to Show Cause Proceeding pursuant to 4 Code of Colorado Regulations 723-1-1302(h) is now closed.

3. This Decision is effective upon its Mailed Date.

B. ADOPTED IN COMMISSIONERS’ WEEKLY MEETING
February 27, 2019.
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� Proceeding No. 13A-0291W, Decision No. R13-1226 issued October 2, 2013, p. 7 ¶30.


� Id.at ¶ 136. 


� Id. at ¶ 136 n. 75.


� Id. at ¶ 139.


� Id. at ¶ 138.


� Attachment 2 to Staff Audit, pp. 8, 10.


� Recommended Decision No. R13-1266, at ¶ 142. 


�  Id. at ¶ 146.


�  Id.; see also Decision No. C13-1495 issued in Proceeding No. 13A-0291W on December 4, 2013, ¶ 6.


� 40 Colorado-Big Thompson unity allotment contracts (C-BT).


� In Decision No. R13-1226, the ALJ found that there “was no evidence that loans were made by any shareholder to the Company. The only evidence of any loans [were] [] the promissory notes, which are not in the amount of the alleged loans and were created well after the supposed loans were made.”


� Decision No. C12-0808 was issued in Proceeding No. 12M-804W on July 13, 2012.


� Decision No. C13-1495 at ¶10.


� Id. at ¶11.


� Decision No. C14-1488.


� Citing, § 40-3-102, C.R.S., and Montrose v. Pub. Utils. Comm’n., 629 P.2d 619, 624 (Colo. 1981) (“The PUC has a general responsibility to protect the public interest regarding utility rates and practices.”); Colorado-Ute Electric Assoc. v. Pub. Utils. Comm’n. 760 P.2d 627, 639 (Colo. 1988) (“As to matters specifically entrusted to management, the PUC may not insert itself absent an abuse of managerial discretion.”); Public Service Co. of Colo. v. Pub. Utils. Comm’n., 653 P.2d 1117, 1123 (Colo. 1982) (“{T}he legal prerequisite to the exercise of [PUC] power over management is the finding that there has been an abuse of managerial discretion.”).


� Id. at ¶10.
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